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~ COMPLAINT
Plaintiff United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission”) alleges
that:

SUMMARY OF THE ACTION

1. From at least 1998 through 2008, Daimler AG, formerly known as -
DaimlerChrysler AG (“Da'nnler’; or the “Cofnpany”), and certain of its subsidiaries and affiliates,
 violated the anti-bri_'befy,j‘books a_nd‘re;:brds aﬁd internal controls provisions of the Foréign |
Corrupt P'racticcs Act (thé “FCPA”) by making illi;:it paymenfs, directly or indirectly, té foreign
government ofﬁcials in order to secure aﬁd maintain business worldwide. -

2. During this time period, Daimler paid bribes to government officials to further
govefmnent sales in Asia, Africa, Eaéteanurope and the Middle East. In connection with at
least 51 transactions, Daimler violated the anti.-bribery provision of the FCPA by paying tens of

millions of dollars in corfupt payments to foreign government officials to secure business in



' Russia, China, Vietnam, Nigeria,- Hungary, Laﬁ/ia, Croatia and Bosnia. These corrupt payments
were made throughb the use of U.S. mails or the means or inst_nﬁnentality of U.S. interstate
commerce. | |

3. Daimler also vioiateci the FCPA’s books and records and internal controls
provisioné inrconnection with the 51 transactions and at least an additional 154 transactions, m
which it made .i_mpropef bayments totalihg at least $56 million to sécure business in 22 countries,
- including, among othérs, Russia, China, Nigeria, Vietnam, Egypt, Greece, Hungary, North
Korea, and‘Ir_ldonesia. Throilgh"c_hese tainted salé's transactions, which_ involved at leasf 6,300
commgrcial-_vehicles and ‘500‘ passenger cars, Daimler earned $1.9 billion in revenue and at least
$91.4 million in illegal profits. |

‘4. Nineteen of these :transacﬁohs, whfch occurred between approximately 2001
thrdugh ~2003% involved direct and indirect sales of motor vehicles and sparé parts under the
United Nations Oil for Food Program; Those transactions included $6,048,948 in bribes in the
form of under-the-table “after sales service feeé.” Daimler offered to pay kickbacks of more |
than $1 million ﬁrider _six direct contracts with Iraqi ministries; made one payment of $7,134
~ under a direct contract; and knéwingly acquiesced in the payment of another $5 million in |
‘ 4.ki.ckb‘a<.:ks' .by_ its'_contract partners in connection w1th twelve indirect Oil for Food éontracts,

5 A r.lum'ber._of Dainﬂer.’s former serﬁor .ex_ecu.tiv‘es, ‘w.ho' operated in a deﬁentrali_zed-
.Qomorate-IStructure, peﬁi;itted or were directly iﬂvolved in the Company’s bribery brécﬁces, :
_including. the head of its overseas sales departxhent, who reported directly to the Company’s most
_ '__seni<r)r officers. The Company’s__iht’emal-audit, legal, fc_md finance and accoﬁnﬁhg_depar’trhenfs,
which should have provided checks on the actiyities of the sales force, instead pléyéd important

roles in the subversion of intemal'controls and obfuscation of corporate records.



6. The impropef payments were made possible in paﬁ as a result of the falsification
of corporate records and a lax systein of interﬁal controls. ..
7. . Inthis enilironment, Daimler developed severai organized procedures and
mechanisms through which improper payments couid be made. D.aiml'er’s books and records
~ contained over 200 ledger accounts, known internally as “interne Fremdkonten,” or, “internai
third party accounts,” which reflected credit balances controlled by Dairrﬂér subsidiaries or
outside third paﬁie's.. Cfcrtairi Daimlef employeés used numerous such accounts to maké or
facilitate improper payments to foreign government officials. Bribes were also n:lad:e through the
use of “corporate cash desks” (where sales executives would obtain cash in améunts as high as |
400,000 Deutsché Marks for making improper payments), deceptiVefpricing and commission
arrangements, phony sales intermediaries, rogue business partners and misuse of inter-company
and debtor accounts. | |
JURISDICTION AND VENUE
8. Thié court has jurisdiction over this action ﬁnder Sections 21(d), 21(e), and 27 of
| the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§78u(d), 78u(e) and 78aa]. Daimler, dire;:ﬂy or indirectly, made
use of the means or instrumentalities of intérstate commerce, of the mails, or of the facilities of a
' natiqnél securities exchange in cqhnection with the transactions, acts, p_ractices, and courses of
business alleged in this Comélaiﬁt; D
9. Venue isvappr‘op'riate in this Court under Section 27 of thé Exchaﬁg’e Act"tlS '
U.S.C. § 78aa] because Daimler, as a US issuer, files reéuired:period_ic féﬁorts with the

Commission in this judicial district.



DEFENDANT

10.  Daimler, a publicly-held corporation organized under the laws of the Federal.
Republic of Geimany, is‘ a global company primarily engaged in manufacturing automobiles.
The Company is headquartered in Stuttgart, Germany.‘ ! The Company’s common stock is
registered with the Commission pursuant to Section 12(b) [15 U.S.C. § 781(b)] of the Exchange
Act and is listed on the New York Stock Exchangé, where its stock is traded under the symbol
" DAL

FACTS

11.  From at least 1998, empléyee's of Déimler and.certain of its subs'idiarie_.s' énd
affiliates made improper payments to f_oreigh government officials to further sales 1n many |
countries. This conduct dates _béck toa tiin_e_when such payments were not prohibited by
~ German law, and thérefbré were tax deductible according to the German Tax Code.

12.  Daimler internally referred to these payments as “N.A.” pa&ménts-, which was the
abbreviaﬁoh of the German term niiizliche Auﬁveﬁdungeﬁ, meaning “useful expenditures” or
“useful payments.”

13. In February 1999, Germany outlawed foreign bribery when the Organization for:
: Ecgnomiq.Coop'eration‘ and Development (f‘OECD”) Ami—Bribery Convention,..which Gcrmém&
ratified, eﬁtefed info_ 'foréé. Daimler, hoWe\}er, had been i)rohibifed from makmg bﬁb_eé té
féreign govemrﬁént 'ofﬁqials under the FCPA since 1993'when its predecessor, Daimler-Benz
AG, registered a class of securities und.er § 12 of the Exchange Act.

14, Nowvithstanding its status as a U.S. .issvuer, the Company failed to end its iOng- _

standing bribery practices and bring its overseas sales business into compliance with the FCPA.

T Up until the divestiture of Daimler’s Chrysler division in May 2007, the Company was known as
DaimlerChrysler AG, which was the product of the 1998 merger between Daimier-Benz and Chrysler Corporation.



15. Iri fact, until recently, Daimler’s FCPA compliance program, outside its former
U.S.—based Chrysler division, was virtually nori—existent, even though the Company has
thousands of employées and dozens of affiliates and busines.s units selling vehicles to foreigii
governments and. government-related entities in many foreign countries.

16i Although Daimler adopied a corporate Integrity Code in July 1999, which
. included aixti-briber_y provisicins, it failed to adequatély enforce those proil_isions or train

| employees outside the U.S. on FCPA compliance.

17.  Daimler aiso failed to implement meaningful oversight of the activities of its sales
force. Accounting and legal personnel often reported to top sales management, rather than
inciepgndent, centralized departments with comi)lieince functions. In several instances, in fact,
Daimler’s legal and accounting departments aided the corrupt practices of the sales departments
rather than provide a safeguard against such practices‘. |

18. Daiinler also failed to maintain adequate controls over the selection of, oi
payments to, sales intermediaries, many of whom were actually nominees. for government
officials, or over the establishment and use of bank accqurits.

19.  Daimler and certain of its subsidiaries_ and afﬁliatcs utilized a variety of
-instrmiients to make iinproper payments in at least 22 coun_tries around the world.

'20.  The instruments through whi¢h impfoper pa}&iients were madé iiiclﬁded rhundreds
of ledger accounts on Daimler’s own books, corporate “cash desks” (where sales personnel
would obtain cash), deceptive pricing: an‘d_ comumission arrangements, offshore bank accounts,
inflated service fees, and norixinees for government officials improperly described as “sales

intermediaries” and “consultants.”



21. Daimler’s practice of securing business through the payment of bribes to foreign
government officials permeated to several major business unifs and subsidiarie# and was
sanctioned by its senior management. Daimler’s corrupt practices were carried out by major
department heads of Daimler Overseas Sales and Commercial Vehicles. |

22. Similarly, improper payments were authorized by or known to the former heads
- of Daimler’s Ox)erseas Sales_ and Commercial Vehicles departments, the}former heads of Dainiler
Export and Trade Finance (a subsidiary of Daimler Financial Servicé.s), and the former heads of
Daimler’s subsidiar-ies in Vietnam, China, Turkey, vIndonesia, Ivory Coast, Nigeria, Russia aﬁd'
the EvoBus subsidiary (“EvoBus”).

A. Daimler USed “Third-Party” Ledger Accounts_ tb Facilitate Bribes

23.  When Daimler-Benz AG merged with Chrysler Corp. in November 1998, Déimler
maintained over 200 ledger accounts known as “internal third party accounts” (“TPA” or
“TPAs”), referred to in German as interne Fremdkonten, which were used for numerous business
purposes. Since at least 1977, Daimler maintained written policies goveming the bperation of
TPAs. Daimler’s Overseas Sales department (“Overseas Séles”) in many instances misused
certain of these TPAs to facilitate improper payments to foreign government officials in Afriéa,

‘ | Eastern Europe énd the Middle East.

.24. Certain TPAs wére managed be the most senior Overseas Sales executives,
including the former head of Overseas Sales. Tﬁe former hééd of .ﬁnance and coﬁtroﬂing for ,.
- Overseas Sales and the then heads of certain Daimler subsidiaries also authofiied disbursements
from TPAs. ’

25. Although the TPAs were internal Daimler general ledger accountsand managed

by employees of Daimler and certain of its subsidiaries and affiliates, the funds in certain of the



TPAs were disbursed éccor_ding to instructions given By third-party beneficiaries of the accounts,
including gdvernment officials. Such credits rec_orded'- in the TPAs——usualIy were disbursed in
cash or by wiring the money to bank accounts throughout the world.

26.  Some of the TPAs were known only to the few Daimler employees managing
~ them, and payments from the acéounts were often confidential, meaning that funds credited to

and debited from these accounts and cash disbursements were often not transparent or subject to
a paper trail or other financial controls.

27. Given'the unreglﬂated nature of these accounts, over time, TPAs were used to
forwa;‘d large sums of cash throughout the world, assist Daimler’s outside business partners and
subsidiaries evade taxes in their fespective countries of operation and pay salaries for Daimler
expéh'iaté employees working overseas, which, in effect, improperly shielded these funds from
German tax authorities.

| 28.  Daimler maintained several TPAs on its general ledger in the name of its own
overseas subsidiaries, which were controlled by the then heads of the subsidiaries and former
'. Qverseas Sales senior executives and used to facilitate government deals.

29.  Inother cases, TPAs were maintained in Daimler’s general ledger in the names of -
 third pérties outside the Company, including foreign government officials or Daimler’s dealers, |
distributors or 'éther agents, who were at times ﬁ_Sed as intermediaries td make payments to

fbr_eign gov_érﬁmen’t officials.
30 Daimler, for example, maintained a TPA called “Consulting Egypt” for the.
benefit of a senior official of a gové_rnment-owned factory that purchased Daimler chassis and

parts and assembled and sold personnel carriers to the Egyptian Army. From 1998 to 2004,



Daimler paid the ofﬁvciél th:ough-eredits to the TPA 1, 123,224 Deutsche Mark (“DM”) and later
€322,101 to secure the sale of v'ehicle chassis and fire trucks to the faetory.
31.  TPAs were als_'o funded by money obtained from the government customers

22 <

themselves through' one of several bogus pricing mechanisms, such as “price surcharges,” “price
inclusions,” or excessive commissions, “discounts” or “rebates.”
32. - These artificial pricing mechellisrns_were used by Daimler or ifts agent to build a
- reserve into the price the 'govenunent customer paid for the vehicle, which was credited (i.e.,
Kicked .bac'k) into a TPA and later_. paid out as a bribe to or for the benefit of foreign government
officials. In the case of arti-ﬁcial_di_scounts Qf rebates on sales contracts, all or a portion of the
discount would be kicked back, through tne TPA, toa for_eigngovermnent official, rather than
the purehasing gevernment customer. N
33, | Under this scenario,_ Daimler':he'ld.the money 'generated_ from a fraudulent pricing
arrangement in a TPA until the TPA beneﬁciary or Daimler subsidigry or agent directed a
i:ransfef of the funds. Daimler, however, did not accumulate an& interest or other charges for
maintaim'_ng these ﬁJnd_s f01; its account holders and the funds could be carried on the Company’s
| books indeﬁnitely.
| '34-.. Prior to 2002, D_aimler_’s TPA policies also permitted senior executives, inciuding
_the fornler head of Overseas Sales; the Vformer'he.ad ef 'ﬁnance and controlling for OVerseas Sales
and. former heads of siibsidiar_iéé_, to authorize cash disbursements from TPAs.
35. The ,eash was disbureed from a “cash desk” located at a‘ Daimlef facility in
Stuttgart, .Gennany, and a corresponding .debit was booked -tobthe relevant TPA.
36.  Daimler failed to .adequately.n'lonitor where cash was being directed or whether

cash disbursements were being made for legitimate business pufposes.



37.  Inconnection with its government customers in Nigeria, for'exarnple, Daimler
employees withdrew DM 400,000 and $150,000 from the cash desk and transported the Marks
_ and US dollars to Nigeria to pay bribes to foreign government officials.

38. In 2002, Da1mler closed its cash desk in Stuttgart but cash payments continued to
be made through 1ts subs1d1anes or through offshore bank accounts Dalmler instituted new
_policies in 2002 requiring the beneﬁciaries of TPAs to desi_gnate a “reference bank account” to
which-payments_c‘ould be wireci or otherwise transferred ‘(eiliminating'the need for cash
' disbursem’ents). However, the poli'cie.s did not reqllire that the barik account be maintained in a
. country in wh1ch the account holder resided or where'the services of the bank account

beneficiary were purportedly rendered.

1. 'Da'n_nler Paid.Bribes Through TPAs in Nigeria
39. Dajmler made bribe payments and kept funds that were not properly recorded on |
its books through four TPAs that were hetd by Anambra Motor Manufacturing Company
(“Ahamnico”), a then Daimler—contro]led joint venture between Daimler and the Federal Military
- Government of the F ederal Republic of Nigeria, thr()ugh which Daimler sold vehicles into
| Nigeria. Da1m1er sold its 1nterest in the joint venture in 2007
40. A portion of Daimler s proceeds from the sale of vehlcles in Nigena was credited
to the .A'nammco TPAs. Senior executives of Daimler the’n u's_ed a p_ortiOn of .th_e‘se credit_s to ~fund
1mproper payments to foreign government officials. - |
41. Between 1998 and 2005, Daimler paid approximately DM 3.9 mllhon $1 million
and €230,000 in improper payments to Nigerian government officials. The bribe payments from
the Ahaniinco TPAs were made to secure sales contracts worth approximately $73 million with

at least seven different government customers. These payments were either improperly recorded



in Daimler’s Books and records or were not recorded at all and were made as a result of weak
internal controls. |

42.  The Anammco TPAs were controlled by fhe former head of Overseas Sales and
the former head of Daimler’s Nigerian office through thich Daimler carried out its business in
Nigeria (the “Nigerian representative office”), who elso was the' managing director of Anammco.
Tﬁese two former executives had decision-making authority over the" sales operations in Niéeria,
and they were able te direct large scale bribe payments. |

43.  For example, in order to obtejn a deal to sell ai'moreci vehicles to the Nigerian |
government, .the' fomie_r head of Overseas Sales authorized the foﬁher head of Daimlef’s :
Nigerian representative efﬁce to debit an Anammco TPA and pay DM 260,000 and DM 50,000,
respectively, to .two_senior Nigerian government officials, who had decision;mal{ing au_thoﬁty
over the contract. Da.imler‘empleyees then wired the funds to the personal foreign benk éccounts
of these two officials in England and Gefmany. |

44. Similarly, in order te obtain another rdeal involving the sale of commercial
Vehieles toa Nigeriaﬁ state-owned enftity, the former head of the Nigerian representative office
effectuated a debif of nearly €200,000 from an Anammco TPA and had the funds wired from a
' Daimlel_' bank account in G_er_many to a bank account in England held by fhe entity’s managing
directof. | | .

45; | Tﬁe former head of Overseas Sales and the former head of the Nigerian
rrepresentativ-e ofﬁ_ce also routinely withdrew lérge' sums of c'ash in vaﬁeus currencies from |
Deimlei"s cor‘po.rateeash desk in Germany to make bribe payments to secure bueiness n Nigeria.

| 46.  Daimler failed to adequately monitor the amount of cas'ﬁ that coﬁld be withdrawn

fhrough the cash desk or understand the purpose of the withdrawals. The former head of the
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Nigerian representative ofﬁce, for example, was authorized by the former head of Overseas Sales
to debit an Anammco TPA to obtain DM 40_6,000 in cash from the cash desk for use towards the |
hotel stay, travel, dining and shopping of a senior Nigerian govemmént official, his delégation
and their relatives.

47.  In connection with the contract to sell buses to a Nigerian state-owned entity, the -
former head of the Nigeria representative office withdrew $110,000 in cash from the cash desk
and deliveredv the funds from Germany to Nigeria to make bribe payments to government'.
officials affiliated with the entity. |

48.  Atone point, the former head of the Nigerian representative office and a senior
sales manéger for Anammco opened ﬁp at leas’;_two SWiss bank accounts, which were funded By
credit b'alan.ces_ in Anammco TPAs. -

49.  The former head of Overseas Sales authorized approximately DM 2.1 million to
Be transferred from Anammco TPAs into these Swisé bank accounts for payment to govemrﬁent
officials to obtain sales contracts with various agencies of the Nigerian government.

2. Star Auto, SA

50.  Daimler made a series of bribe payments through a TPA that was maintained for
_thé benefit of Star Auto S.A. (“Star Auto”), at the time a Daimler majority-owned and éontrolled
entity based in the Ivory Coast. o |

51.  Star Autb operated as Déinﬂer’s_general dealer in the Ivory Coast, and sales
intermediary when direct sales were made between Overseas Sales and West African customers.
Star Auto operated a regional center for coordina_ting sales in 14 West Afﬁcan countries.

_ Dainﬂer sold its interest in Star Auto in 2008.
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52.  The former head of Overséas Sales, the.former head of finance and contrdlling for
Ovefseas Sales, and the former managipg director of Star Auto controlled the Star Auto TPA.

53.  The three former Daimler exgcutives also confrolled an off-the-books German
bank account at Volksbank, which was‘us.ed in conjunction with the Star Auto TPA to make
improper payments and existed outside Daimler’s accounting system. |

54.  Through the Star Auto TPA and the bank:a'ccount at Volksbank, the threé_ former
~ executives made improper payments to government officials in Ghana, Liberia and Poland in the

amounts of DM 630,000, $1 70,000 and €111,175, securing at least $24.5 million in vehicle ‘sales
between 1998 and 2004. - o |
55.  The three former executives disguised the true purpose of the payments from the
Star Auto TPA, which resulted in inaccuracies in Daimler’é books and records.
56. F ;)r exampie, in an effort to enter the trucking market in Poland throﬁgh the sale
| of 30 trucks to a Polish government entity and establishment of a local ofﬁ_ce in Warsaw, in 2004
- former Daimler executives made cash bribe payments totaling €100,000 to a high ranking Polish
government official who represented the goveﬁnnent entity in the deal. The cash was ﬁthdrawn :
from thé Star Auto account at Volksbank against credit balancés in the Star Auto TPA and
personally delivered by the former head of Overseas Sales. and another senior Overseas Salcs
eXécutive to. the g_bvefninenf ofﬁcial ét a hotel room in Stuttgart, Ge'n.nany.. The former -
managing director.of Star Alitd then impfoperly noted in an intefn’al memo that €6O,OOO-Qf the
€100,000 was paid in connection with “service expenées for major Polish cﬁstomer_s (Mail road
construcﬁon project).” Similarly, the remaining €40,000 cash paﬁnent Was. improperly
referenced in an intémal document as a-payment for “consulting services with regard to the

Warsaw branch office for trucks.”

12



57.  Inother deals Where_ Daimler nsed the Star Aute TPA to make the bribe
payments, the Company used phony intermediaries or its own outside dealers to disguise the true
nature and purpose of the payments. | |

58. Dainﬂef, for example, obtained a sales contract to 'snpply 100 trucks to the

| government of Liberia by providing a free armored Mercedes G 500 vehicle worth nearly
$600,000 to a senior Liberian gevemment official. Daimler then arranged to pay its outside
dea_ler in Liberia $600,000, which was mischaracterized as commissions, and which the dealer
then used to pay for the vehicle. This decentive structuring .of the deal made it appear as if the |

. dealer purchased the vehicle when, in fact, Daimler employees gifted the vehicle to the Liberian

government official as a bribe

3. | Daimler Reﬁises to Stop Using TPAs to Make Bribes Despite Risks
59, Fer many years, Daimler used TPAs to make bribes despite being aware of the
legal risks assoeiated with the accounts. |
60.  Aninternal audit rebort, dated March 24, 1986, acknowledged that the accounts |
might -violate the laws of other countries and that disclosure of the TPAs to certain governments
could pose “significant difficulties” for the Company as well as the beneﬁeiaiies of the accounts.
61. | Consequently, pursuant to corporate policy, TPAs were maint_ained-with “absolute
'-conﬁdent_iéli'ty” nnd enly “in the knowledge of a few-.’[Daiinler] empbyees.”
| 62. After forelgn bribery became 1llegal in Germany in 1999 Daimler’s internal audit
department placed senior executives at the Company on notice that internal control weaknesses
assocmted with the TPAs left the accounts susceptible to being used for bribery.
63. The fo_rmer head of inte'rna_l audit fer Daimler’s operations outside of North

America became concerned that the approximately 200 TPAs in existence at that time would
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* continue to be used for effectuating bribes, as had been Daimler’s practice prior to the change in
German law. Concerned about this risk ahd possible misuse of the TPAs, in early 2000, the
intgmal audit head directed his internal audit staff to conduct a review of all the Company’s
TPAs.

64. Ina May 2000 memo to senior sales and finance personnel, Daimler’s internal
audit staff .wal‘x'led that there was a hjgh risk that the TPAs did not comport with either the
Company’s Integrity Code or changed German law. Anqther internal audit memo stated that, by
not revising guidel'més over the usé. of TPAs, the Company could be viewed as facilitating
.“fraudulent transacﬁons within the 'érgahizaﬁon.”

65. The May 2000 meﬁlo further noted that, given the lack of internal cqﬁtpols over
TPAs, internal audit (;ould be held responsible for fa.iling to take remedial measuies should
ceftain tfahs,actibns occur and become public'.»

66. _ Accordingly, the May '2000 rﬁemo recommended that internal audit, among other .
things, review all TPAs fo determiné whether commission payments were legitimate, conduct -
audifs of all operational sales departments to “identify favors granted that might be pfobléhlaﬁc
from a legal point of view. andbcancelling them as soon as possiblé,” and obligate all Daimler
contract partners to ._prov'idé writt_en confirmation that no coﬁﬁnission or resale price margins
' §v.0uld be p_és_sed_’through ib.“suﬁ agents.” . |

67.  Inthesame memo; in’;emal audit also fecommended to séﬁor executives of
Overseas Sales- and the finance and acéoﬁntiﬁg deparhnent that the Company: (1) close the TPAs
 unless ihere is documented proof that the funds in TPAs are necessary for legitimate business

~ purposes; (2) obtain documented proof of actual services rendered by an outside agent and
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business partners before paying commissions;i and (3) obtaﬁ representat_ions that commissions
are not oasscd through to “sub agents.” - |

68.. In August 2000, the internal audit staff created a forroal audit report entitled
“Review of Internal Control Procedures Invo__icing’ Process GFN/L” that addressed internal
controls risks surrounding TPAs. |

69.  The summary of the audit report, which was sent to certain members of .-the Board
of Management, reflected that “the correctness of invoice prooes'si_ng and sett_lement of .
comrhissions/discounts are subjeot to seﬁous risks,” ihcludmg the “[a]bsence of central
‘obligatory intemal controls pﬁhciplos for the respectivel business units” of the Company. The _
summary further stated that such internal controls issues increase the risk of fraud and |
“endangers the adherence to the [Company’s] Integrity code.” ..

70.  The body'of'the August 2000 report, which was sent to senior ﬁhance and sales
executivés, Went. oo to further state that internal controls surrounding fhe invoicing, commission
payments and rebate accounting in the salesorganization were weak, lacked central oversight-
and subjected Daimler to fraud risks.

71.  The body of the report further noted that there were “fﬁndamental gaps in
security” 1n the way the sales organization paid commissions and invoiced customers “which

..vs}ill' -néoessarily leod to serious .risks of frau&ulent aots_'to the .detrixhént'of [Daim.ler] and to |
corresponding risks with respect to compliahcé with the Integrity Code.” - | |

~72.  Despite such warnings‘from internal audit, those who received the summary and
body of the internal aﬁdit'fepoft fajled_to direct fhe Company’s accomﬁng department to |

improve internal controls surrounding the TPAs, let alone close the accounts.
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73. | The Board of Management failed to diréct ihtemai audit to audit the TPAé and
associated bank accounts to determine whether the TPAs were operating in compliance with
anti;bribery laws.

- 74.  Daimler’s interhal audit staff also faced pressure to keep TPAs open from former
- Senior Overseas Sales executives, such as the former head of Overseas Sales and the former head
of finance and cbﬁtrélling for Overseas.Sales, who feared a potenti‘al loss of sales volume if the -
TPA.s.were eliminated. As reflected in 1;nternal audit memos, former Overseas Sales ‘
management also resisted i_mprovements in internal controls and transparency for the TPAs.

75. | In 2002, although the Company decided to reduce the numbér of TPAs to 5 0 and
- shut down its central cash desk, cash payments continued to be made through cash desks and
bank accounts controlled by its subsidiaﬁes, é_nd the Company failed to effectively improve -
'c_bntrbls surrdundiﬁg the remaining TPAs. |

76.  The 50 TPAs remained open over the objections of the internal auditf head, and his
department’s efforts to rein in the use of TPAs was hampered by Dajml.er’s decentralized
corporate structure and, according fo the internal audit head, the Company’s expectation that
© internal au_dit_ not serve a “police function.”

77. Inf;emal audit ultimately recommended that senior sales management—the
' individuais most réstnsible for direéting bnbes to secure sgles—-coh’duct a “self—audit”-td :
detefmine whether bribes were paid from fhe TPAs. The remaining open TPAs were clo‘sed in
2004. and 2005, on_ly. after the Commission began its invgstigation. _

B. Daimler Used Other Ledger Accounts to Facilitate Bribes

78.  In addition to TPAs, Daimler used a variety of other ledger accounts to make

- corrupt payments to foreign government officials to secure vehicle sales and other business.
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79.  Similar to T_PAs,. tﬁe money in the other ledger accounts used for bribés was often
generated from fraudulent pricing arrangements.

80.  In connection with certain sales of passenger cars in Russia and commercial
vehicles .in China, fér exarhple, Daimler and certain of its subsidiaries and affiliates routinely
over-invoiceci the government customers between 10%-30% for phoﬁy_ add-ons su;:h as parts or
services that were not delivered (and never inte_nded to be delivered), resulting in an-
overpayment of the inflated contract price. The excess a.mountv was then-passed on tb high-
rénking gove@nent officials through credits fo intér-company and debtor accounts associéted
with the respective transactions, which were then transferred to bank accounts designated by
foreign government officials.

81.  The improper payments to government officials or their designees through these -
ledger accéuﬁts were-eithgr not recorded on Dairrllérfs books and records or inaccurately
recorded to disguise the true nature of the payments.

82.  Daimler, for example, sold passenger cars to two Russian govemméntal entities.
Daimler maintained on its books credit balances that were also used by cértain Daimler
employees to make improper payments to baﬁk accounts desigﬁated by government officials
associated with the two Russian governmental _entitieé. Credits to these accounts were
mislabeled as “com_missioﬁs,” or “spe@:ial d‘iscount:s,”' or'identiﬂed as “N.A;”

83.  In connection yvith-government s':a_.les in Vietnam, former sgnibr se_zles éxecutives at
Daimler’s MB Vietna:ﬁ subsidiary ifnproper_ly booked corrupt payments in several expense
accounts designated as “Key Accounts,” Costs of Good Sold, “Gifts Line,” “Petty Cash,” and |

“Broker Commissions.”
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84.  Likewise, Daimler’s Indonesian-subsidiary misused “employee vendor accounts,”
which were intended for booking employee travel-related expenses, for booking large cash
disbursements to ofﬁcjals from a state-swned company. Mény of these payrhents were also
characterized as “fulfillment of commitment” on internal payment authorization sheets and were
impfsperly booked on Daimler’s corporate accounting system as..“colst of goods sold.”

85.  Cash was also withdrawn against certain “omnibus” accounts and noted on
‘payment instructions as,- “to be handsd to the -ctistomer” without recording the true nature of the
payment on Daimler’s books. |

86. In connection with the sale of a commercial vehicle to a government customer in
Russia, fbr instance, former Daimlsr employees made cash payments to two government officials
totaling DM 9,191 .34. Both payments were referenced internally as “social support” payments.
At least one of these payments was evidenced by a receipt signed by a government official. A
former employee of Daimler’s subsidiary in Russia, pursuant to orders from superiors, withdrew
these funds from his own bank account in Germany, flew to Russia with the cash in a suitcase, |
paid the officials in cash, and was latér reimbursed by Daimler.

C. Daimler Paid Kickbacks in Connectlon with the Umted Nations Oil
for Food Program .

87. Dannler s involvement in the payment of. bnbes through the Oil for F ood Program

~ took two' forms -~ direct sales and indirect sales through th1rd parties. Both avenues involved the _

sécret payment of ten percent kickbacks to Iraqi _govemment—controlled accounts in a manner

.designed to asloid detection by'U.N. inspectors. The payments were charactsﬁzed as “after sales
:scrvice fees” (“ASSFs”); howéVe‘r, no services were adtu_ally performéd. The fee Was effestively
a kickback paid to the Iraqi regime. Daimler’s accounting for its oil for Food transactions failed

properly to record the nature of the kickback payments that the company either authorized or
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_ .made. Thé ASSF payments were not identified in the official pilrchase contracts pfovided for the
UN.’s review and were not made through the U.N.’s authorized payment channels. Daimler’s
R profits on these Oil for Food Program contracts tbtale_d $4,121,3 13..

88. The U.N. Security Council established the Oil for Food Program to address a
humamtanan crisis in Iraq that resulted frdm trade sanctions levied on Iraq by the U.N. and‘the | _
U.S. following Iraq’s invasion of Kuwait in 1991. Under the Program, the then Iraqi government
was permitted to sell crude oil, the proceeds of which flowed into a U.N.-controlléd escrow |
accoﬁnt, and the Iraqi regime was'-permjt’tcd to use the proceeds to purchase humamtarlan
supplies. The kickbacks paid in connection with the Oil for Food contracts had ;che effect of

: diverting funds out of the escrow account and into accounts under the control of the Iraqi
govennnent. The Company knew that the ASSF payments were prohibited by the Oil for Food
Program and by the relev,ént trade sanctions. |

89.  Between April and October 2001, Daimler entered into seven direct contracts vﬁth

Iraqi ministriés. In all seven transactions, Daimler ofﬁcials in the Iraq sales office of Of/crseas
- Sales entered into side agreements with the lraqi._ministn'es in order to obtain the U.N. contracts.
Daimler did not disclose to the U.N. the éide agreements, which called for illegal kickback
payments totaling app;okimately $1 million. Of th_e seven contracts, only one resulted iﬁ the
A deliyery of a vehicle to Iraq béf_ore the U.S. invaded Iraq in March 2003. Thxs ﬁ’ansaétion
involvéd the i)ayment' of a $7'?134 kickback to an Irécii government ministry. |

90.  Daimler Qfﬁc‘ials fook affirmative steps to conceal the nature of the ASSF

 kickbacks. -Following tilxe_U.S. invasion, for example, the U.N. demanded that Daimler -
eliminate the ASSF kickbacks from an Oil for Food contract to supply mobile Workstétions. A

Daimler official falsely represented to thé U.N. that the ASSF was “a special discount” and that
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it was nevér Daimler's “intention to pay such amo_unf to any tﬁird party.” The Daimler official
knew that the ASSF payment was not a discount on the contract pﬁce, and was instead an
“under-the-table” kickback to be paid at the direction of Iraqi government officials.
'91.  On another contract, Overseas Sales employees 'concealed the ‘i]Jegal ASSF
kickbaék by evadiﬁg the es_tablished U.N. payment channels. They disguised the kickback as a
legitimate commission to Daimler’s agent in Iraq whose company provided warranty service on'
‘ Daimler vehicles in Iraq. Daimler inflated the agent’s commission by $‘7.,.1 34, and the agent
, Wired thaf amount from his company’s SvyiSs bé.nk account to the ‘Iraqi govéMent-controlled
acc‘ount at the Hoﬁsing Bank for Trade and Fmaﬁce in Amman, Jordan. -Daimlér_ improperly
recorded the payment as a legitimate agent comxhission.

92.  Ultimately, Daimler éonducted most of its iraqi business under the Program
through third parties.. Under the third-party agreérﬁents,' Daimler sold trucks, truck chassis, and
spare parts to companies in the Middle East and other countn'ei Daimler’s contract partners
typically.modiﬁed the vehicles and resold them té Iraqi ministries, paying the standard 10%
kickback. In t-otal,A Daimler entered into twelve third-party contracts in which its contract
_ partneré made an estimated $5 million in ASSF payménts.

93.  The Daimler ofﬁcia_ls 'w_ho negotiated -the .-third-pény contracts knew or should
:havé knowrn, that Daimler’s cbntfact partners would.pay illégal l.<_ic‘kbvacks to Iraq.i ministries. For _
, 'examplé, Daimler obtainéd copies of contract files containing fésale agr’eeﬁien’ts between its
coﬁtract partners and the Iraqi mlmstry end-purchasers. The contract files iﬁciuded the secret
| side agreemen’is to pay ASSF'kiékbacks. Oﬁe internal Dainﬂer email rﬁessagé acknowledged the

side letters using the German abbreviation K.D. for “Kundendienst,” or after-sales services

payment.
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D. Daimler Br'ib'ed".I'hrough Phony Intermediaries and Consult_ants

94.  Daimler routinély used sham intermediaries and consu]tantsto funnel payments to
government ofﬁcigls in several countries, including Russia, Latvia, China, Uzbekistan, Greece,
| Turkey, Hungary, Ghana, Nigeria, énd Vietnam. Several of these cbrrupt payments were made
tin.S. bank a;:counts controlled by nominees for the 'foréig'n government officials.

95.  In China, Daimler funneled bribes to gbvernfnent officials through as many as 7 1v
“ihtennediariés”—;many Qf whom were associated with phony cdnsﬂting contracts or entities-
with no actual business operations.

96.  In connection with contracts worth €37,415,070 to sell 302 buses and 4 vans to an |
Uzbekistan ‘§o‘vemment agency; for example, Daimler’s EvoBus subsidiary paid a total of ,
approximately €3.5 million in improper payments to shell companies of government officials to
obtain the deal |

97.  Daimler’s internal price calcﬂaﬁon-éheéts marked “confidential” reflect that
EvdBus sales executives promis_ed to pay certain Uzbek 'government ofﬁci,alé‘ 10% of the
underlying net sales price df the bus deal, or approximately.€3.5 million.

98. Daimler entered into phony consulting agreements with these shell companies
. about one mc_)nt.h_'b.eforqéxecl.lting' the sales contract with the Uzbek government agency, Whjle
_- intémally refénihé to the ﬁéyﬁienfs_ in conriéction with the agr_e_ehienfs as v‘_‘I.\VIF.A."’ - |

99. . The payménts were sent to a bank ac_countvin Englahd and anofhér in Sﬁ&erlénd
held by two noriiinee; companies incorporated in the Britiéli Virgin Islands.

100. Similarly, in order to.obtain contracts to sell 1 17 buses to a city in Latvia in deals
worth approximately €30 millién, the formét head of sales for MB Buses at EvoBus executed .

consulting agreements involving no discernible services with two U.S.-incorporated nominees
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for City Council members, and paid those entities €1,251,274 in connection with the bus
céntract.

101. The arrangement to bay the Couﬁcil members “under the table money” through
nominees was reﬂegt_ed in several internal EvoBus documents. A March 24, 2002 mémo reﬂ_eqts
that a 5% commission oﬁ the underlying deal.'(or €216,115) would be made through one of the
U.S. incorporated nominees to the memberé ofa politica} party in thé Latvian city, who
controlled the City Council at the time, including the son of a high-ranking gqvemment ofﬁc':ial_- |
whose father haa influence over the tender.. |

102. Other infefnal documents show that later corrupt payments to members of é |
political party on the Latvian City Council, who also had'inﬂue_nce over the tendér, .wére made
through the othér of the tWo US nominees.

B ‘103.. _ Daimlef routinely made payments to foreign government officials through
" nominee and personal bank accounts- in Lafvia, thé United States and other countries with no
other_ association to the saies transacﬁom at issue. |
104. For example, in order to ébtain a contract for the sale of four vehicles to a Russian
govermnent.agency, Daimler wired €110,000 to a Gefman'bank account held in the name of a |
§enior official at that government agéncy.
105. '. In addition, 'Dainﬂer wired funds t§ ba;mk accounts m Latvia held by_ﬁve-corppréte
| nominees of the senior official from the RusSian government agency, his; >wife and other
individuals close to him. |
106.  After the Commission’s FCPA invéstigation started, in order to circumvent new
Qontrols that had been put in place, Daimler paid “commissions” tofaling €488,320to a thjrd-

party intermediary nam_ed by the senior official from the Russian government agency. The third-
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party intermediary instructed Daimler to wire the so-called commission payments to Latvian
bank accounts, one of which was previously held in the name of an earlier nominee of the senior

official from the Russian government agency.

E. Daimler Made Bribes Through Dealéré and Di_stribu_ntd_rs

107.  In countries such as Greece, Liberia, Turkmenistan, Latvia, and Bﬁlgaria, Daimler
utilized certain of its in-country dealers and distributors as corrupt intermediaries to facilitate
deals with government customers, pass bribes to governmeﬁt officials and assist Daimler in
hiding the true nature of the corrupt paymenté on its books.

108. In Greece, for instance, Daimler’s long-time Mercedés general representative
owned part of a principally-state-owned company that supplied vehicles to a Greek government
agency. Daﬁmler engaged the Greek representative to use his influence to secure the sale of 645
véhjcle_:s to the Greek government agency and coordinated with ;che representative to pasé bribe
payme_:nts to government officials through phony consultants and intermediaries.

109. In connection with this deal, Daimler paid nearly DM 17 million, which was
shared between officials of the Greek government agency and the Greek representative.

110. Similarly, in order to enter the market and secure business in Turkmenistan,
Daiﬁﬂer, with the aid of its distributor in Turkmenistan, provided gifts personally to a senior
: govémme_nf official of Tﬁrkme‘nistan, who had deciéion—maldng- authority over Da_irﬁ_ler’s sales |
contracts with the Turkmen governr’nent. |

111. . These gifts took the form of two armored \}ehiclés worth at least €550,000 in.total

and the German translation and publication of a book authored by the Turkmen senior

government official. There were also at least $2 million in payments to the distributor and other
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third pan_ies that were c_h:iracten'zed in Daimler documents as N.A. 'payments and additional

costs.

- F. - Daimler Provided Government Officials Lavish Travel |
112. In conneetion with Daimler’s commercial vehicle business in China; Daimler
. routinely executed side agreements with its government customers through which the Company
agreed to return a certain percentage of the contract or a specific amount of money to the
customer—'——'mislabeled as a special commission or special discount—for the purpose of funding.
la‘)ish trips for government officials. |
113. The “del'egatioh trips” funded by the so-called discounts and commissions were in
reality lavish \-/acatio'ns to European cities for Chinese government officials and their relatives.
114. . In order to sell two commercial vehicles to a Chinese government agency, for
.‘ example, Daimler executed side 'agreements stating that €11,000 as a.“special commission”
would be returned to the customer once full payment was reCeived on the coﬁnnercial vehicles
and that Daimler wouid pay fqr accommodations and ﬂights_ for a six person delegation to visit
‘_‘Gennany/Eu:ope.”
115. Asreflected in internal documents, Daimler later allocated €11,000 towards
, fmancmg a lawsh vacation for six ofﬁc1als to Luxembourg, Amsterdam Brussels Pans Rome
) .F lorence Vemce and Mumch In total, between 1999 and 2006, Dalmler paid for at least 16 |
such delegatlon trips in connectlon with $120 m11110n in vehicle sales to the Chinese government
' customer_s.

FIRST CLAIM
[Violations of Section 30A of the Exchange Act]

116.  Paragraphs 1 through 115 are re-alleged and incorporated by reference.
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117. As described abbve, Daimlér, and certain of its subsidiaﬁés, through means or .
g instruméntalities of U.S. cofnmerce, Corrﬁptly offered, promised to pay, or authorized corrupt
,paylnénfs to a person, while knowing that all or a portion of those payments would be offered,
give, or promised, .directly. or indirectly, to foreign government officials for the purposés of
: inﬂuencing their acts or decisions in their ofﬁcial-capacity, inducing them to do or omif to do
actions 1n violation of their la'vvful.d_uties, securing an improper Vadvantage, or inducing such.
forei_gn officials to use their influence with a foreign government or instrumentality thereof to
assist Daimlér obtait_ling or retaining business.

| 118. By reason ,of the foregoing, Daimler violated the anti-bribery pr_oVi_sions ofthe
FCPA, as codified at Section 30A of the Exchaqge Act[15U.S.C. §78dd-1].

: - SECOND CLAIM _
[Violations of Section 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act]

1 19. Paragraphs 1 through 118 are re-alleged and incorporated by refér'ence.
120.  As described above, Daimler, and certain of its subsidiaries, failed to make and
~ keep books, records anci accounts which, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflected its
transactions and di’spositions of its assets.
121. By reason of the foregoing, Daimler violated Section 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange

Act {15 USC § 78ﬁ1(b)(2)(A_)].

25



~ THIRD CLAIM
[Violations of Section 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act]

122. Paragraphs 1 through 121 are re-alleged and incorporated by reference.

' 123. As described above, with respect to irﬁproper payments to foreign officials,
Daimler aﬁd certain of its subsidiaries failed to devise and 1ﬁaintai’n_ é system of internal
accéuntin_g controls sufficient to provide reasonéble assu_rancés that: (i) péyments were made in

" accordance with management's general or specific authorization; and (ii) payments were
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally
éccepted accouhting principles or any other criteria applicable to such statements, and to
maintain accountabilit'}; for ité assets. | | |

124.. By reason of the fdregoing, Daimler violatéd Section.13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange

Act [15 US.C. § 78m(b)(2)(B)].

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, the Comxnlssmn respectfully requests that this Court enter a final

judgment: |

AL Permanently restraining and enjoining Daimler from violating Sections 30A,
13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act [15 Us.C. §§ 78dd 1, 78m(b)(2)(A), and
EmO@Q®E | |
B. - Ordering Daimler to dlsgorge ill- gotten gains wrongfully obtalned as a result of
| its illegal conduct; and - |

C. Granting such further relief as the Court may deem just and appropriate.
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